### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LENARD PHILMORE,		SC00-1706
Appellant,		
VS.		LC#97-1672CFA
STATE OF FLORIDA,		20117
Appellee.	/	

Appeal from the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, In and for Martin County, Florida Judge Cynthia Angelos

## <u>Initial Brief of Appellant</u>

GLASS & RASTATTER, P.A. 524 So. Andrews Avenue, Ste 301N Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 Telephone: (954) 463-2965

PATRICK C. RASTATTER Fla. Bar #164634 Counsel for Appellant

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

Honorable Cynthia Angelos Trial Judge - 19<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuit

Thomas Bakkedahl, Esq. Prosecutor below

Sherwood Bauer, Esq. Defendant's trial counsel

Bruce Colton, Esq. Prosecutor below

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties are referred to as they stood in the trial court, the defendant, Lenard Philmore, and the prosecution, State of Florida. References to the record-on-appeal are by the symbol "R" followed by the relevant document number. The trial transcript is designated "TR" followed by the appropriate page number. The Supplemental record-on-appeal is designated by the symbol "SR" followed by the relevant page number.

Defendants pretrial motion to suppress statements hearing is found at R 782-957 and SR 6-92. Other non-evidentiary pretrial motions are located at TR 1-165. Trial proceedings, starting with jury selection are at TR 168 - 2683.

Your undersigned attorney appears as a specially appointed appellate public defender pursuant to an order of the trial court entered October 25, 2000. (R 1340) The defendant, Lenard Philmore, remains incarcerated under a sentence of death.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Lenard J. Philmore was charged by way of indictment with the offenses of first degree murder (count I); conspiracy to commit robbery with a deadly weapon (count III); carjacking with a deadly weapon (count III); kidnaping (count IV); robbery with a deadly weapon (count V); and grand theft (Count VI). (R 1-4) Codefendant, Anthony A. Spann, was charged in the same accusatory instrument with the same offenses but his were set forth in counts VII through XII. (R 3-4) The defendants were tried separately. (R 613-618)

Various pretrial motions were filed and heard by the trial court, including Lenard Philmore's "motion to suppress statements of defendant and admission of evidence obtained from statement". (R 243-245) This motion was denied and Lenard Philmore's statements were admitted at trial over objection. (R 566; TR 878, 883, 893, 899-900, 1029)

Trial proceedings culminated in verdicts of guilty as charged as to all offenses set forth in the indictment. ( R 636-637) Penalty phase proceedings were subsequently conducted and by a vote of twelve to zero, the jury recommended a sentence of death. ( R 766-770)

A *Spencer* hearing was held thereafter and memorandum from counsel reviewed by the trial court. (R 1069, 1162-1201) In addition, a presentence investigation report was ordered and received by the trial judge. (R 1137-1138; 1353) At sentencing, Lenard Philmore received the death penalty for his conviction of first degree murder and prison sentences for his non-capital felony convictions. (R 1223-1239)

Timely notice of appeal to this court followed. (R 1252) This brief is filed in support thereof.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### **Pretrial Motion Hearings:**

In a written "motion to suppress statement of defendant and admission of evidence obtained from statement", Lenard Philmore sought exclusion of a series of statements given by him to police authorities. (R 243-245) The motion addressed statements of defendant provided on November 18, 20, 21, 23, and 26, 1997, following his arrest on November 14, 1997 by the Martin County Sheriff's Department.

As a factual basis the motion recited that Lenard Philmore and codefendant Anthony Spann were arrested on November 14, 1997, by the Martin County Sheriff's Department for the offense of Armed Trespass on Posted Land. The next day an additional charge was lodged against defendant arising out of an Indiantown Bank robbery which occurred on November 14, 1997. At the same time, a missing person, Ms. Kazue Perron, was reported from Palm Beach County. This individual was the owner of an automobile observed being driven by Lenard Philmore prior to his arrest on November 14, 1997.

It was further recited that counsel was provided to defendant on November 15, 1997 in the person of Assistant Public Defender John Hetherington who met with

defendant in the Martin County jail. Law enforcement had been in contact with counsel regarding the now missing owner/operator of the vehicle and the belief that Lenard Philmore and/or Anthony Spann had committed murder. In turn, lawyer Hetherington discussed the situation with defendant Philmore. At that point in time, no compelling evidence existed that would warrant the arrest of Lenard Philmore for murder of the missing owner/operator of the automobile. Law enforcement had not recovered any body, no physical proof that a victim was dead was present, and coarrestee Spann had not given any statements to the authorities. Despite the foregoing and with no other pertinent information available to him regarding either the police investigation or the client himself and with just two days of representation, counsel convinced Lenard Philmore that he would face murder charges and a corresponding death penalty if he did not cooperate with law enforcement and provide a statement.

Thereafter, in a series of tape recorded statements, defendant in the presence of Mr. Hetherington, first denied and then admitted his responsibility for the shooting death of Kazue Perron. As part of his confession, Lenard Philmore agreed to show the authorities where the decedent's body was located.

In seeking suppression of defendant's several statements and any fruits thereof, the motion asserted the failure of Mr. Hetherington to give effective representation to Lenard Philmore by not insisting that his client remain silent in accordance with his

constitutional privilege to do so. <sup>1</sup> Finally, the motion alleged that the statements were not freely and voluntarily given in that defendant believed he would not be subject to the death penalty if he gave a full and honest account of his actions. (R 243-245)

In a written response, the prosecution asserted that the right to the effective assistance of counsel applies only to representation "at trial" and not to matters pretrial as were involved herein. (R 512-521) The state further argued that Lenard Philmore didn't even have a right to counsel, effective or otherwise, because no prosecution had been undertaken against him at the time of his statements. Accordingly, the state noted, if defendant didn't have the right to a lawyer during his interrogation by law enforcement, he certainly didn't have a right to an effective one. Finally, the prosecution asserted that defendant's several statements were not subject to suppression because there was an absence of state action in obtaining them. (R 512-521)

At the suppression hearing, the state introduced Lenard Philmore's arrest affidavits for his November 15, 1997 trespass on posted land while armed and bank robbery of the same date. (SR 15-16) Also presented was defendant's capias of December 17, 1997 in connection with his indictment for murder, kidnaping, robbery,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Subsequent to the subject statements to law enforcement, Lenard Philmore discharged Assistant Public Defender Hetherington and upon request, the trial court appointed independent counsel who prepared and argued defendant's motion to suppress statements. ( R 68, 75-76; SR 2-5)

carjacking and grand theft. (SR 16)

Martin County Sheriff's deputy, Gary Bach, testified he was alerted to the robbery of the First Bank of Indiantown and thereafter became the lead investigator. (SR 25-26) The deputy first came into contact with the defendant on November 15, 1997 at 1:30 a.m. following the latter's arrest for trespass on posted land. (SR 26-27) Deputy Bach, along with Federal Bureau of Investigation Special Agent David Von Hawley, advised Mr. Philmore of his constitutional rights and proceeded to question defendant about the Indiantown Bank robbery. (SR 27-29) Lenard Philmore admitted his participation but requested the advice of an attorney before proceeding further. (SR 29-30)

Later that day, an eyewitness identified defendant's image from a photospread as being the subject bank robber. (SR 30-31) An arrest affidavit was then completed charging Lenard Philmore with the Indiantown Bank robbery. (SR 31)

Two days thereafter, defendant's court appointed lawyer, John Hetherington, advised deputy Bach that his client would provide an additional statement the following day. (SR 31-32) During this interview, Lenard Philmore denied any knowledge or involvement in the abduction of Kazue Perron and agreed to a polygraph examination for verification. (SR 32-34)

On cross-examination, deputy Bach acknowledged he believed from the onset

that defendant was somehow involved in Ms. Perron's disappearance and he so advised attorney Hetherington. (SR 35-37) The deputy thought that "Mr. Philmore was in a lot of trouble and...needed an attorney". (SR 37) The disappearance of Kazue Perron was at the time a major focus of the Martin County Sheriff's Department as well as other police agencies. (SR 39) Defendant's counsel informed Deputy Bach that his client "would cooperate and help [law enforcement] try to get to the bottom of what happened to Ms. Perron". (SR 40)

Fellow sheriff's deputy, Dennis Fritchie, conducted a polygraph examination on defendant on November 20, 1997 to determine the veracity of his police statement two days earlier. (SR 41-44) Although Lenard Philmore had counsel, only the examiner and the subject thereof were permitted in the polygraph room. (SR 45, 48-49) In his pre-test interview, the defendant changed his version of events and admitted his presence during the carjacking of Ms. Perron's Lexus. (SR 51-52, 55) The polygraph session was terminated and another police interrogation scheduled for November 21, 1997 after lawyer Hetherington was informed of his client's "change of story". (SR 52-56) This subsequent interview was initiated by defense counsel. (SR 58)

In his next police statement, Lenard Philmore, in the company of his counsel, admitted to being present at the time Kazue Perron was killed. (SR 60-61) Yet

another polygraph examination was set for November 23, 1999. (SR 61) This test was to ascertain if Lenard Philmore was the gunman who actually shot Ms. Perron. (SR 62-63) Although defendant denied being the shooter, the polygraph showed deception in this area. (SR 64-66) Shortly thereafter, defendant admitted to being the actual gunman. (SR 66)

Once again, attorney John Hetherington was notified of his client's latest version of events which in turn led to the scheduling of a further police interrogation for November 26, 1999. (SR 67-68) Present at his final statement was the defendant Lenard Philmore, his counsel John Hetherington, deputy Dennis Fritchie and assistant state attorney Thomas Bakkedahl. (SR 68-69) At this interview, defendant acknowledged that it was he who shot Kazue Perron. (SR 71) During this admission court appointed counsel was present, as was the defendant's request. (SR 70, 72)

Deputy Fritchie indicated that the polygraph examinations administered to Lenard Philmore were to determine the latter's involvement in the abduction and/or murder of Ms. Perron. (SR 76-77) All preliminary matters were conducted in the presence of defendant's counsel, John Hetherington. (SR 77-78) Each time Lenard Philmore changed his story by admitting to events previously denied, deputy Fritchie would terminate the examination so that defendant could consult with his counsel. (SR 79-80) On both occasions thereafter, attorney Hetherington contacted the

investigating detectives and advised them that his client desired to provide a further statement and take authorities to the then unrecovered body of Ms. Perron. (SR 80-83) It appeared that defendant would assume a pre-interview factual position that he would retreat from in his actual police statement. (SR 84-86)

Based on the numerous changes in Lenard Philmore's version of events, it was apparent to all concerned that defendant was not being straightforward with his counsel. (SR 84-86) In fact, deputy Fritchie told Mr. Hetherington that "you need to go in and talk to your guy [because] he's got a little more involvement then what he told you". (SR 86)

At the evidentiary hearing, Assistant Public Defender John Hetherington of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit testified he had been a lawyer for eleven years, ten of which were devoted to the practice of criminal law. (R 788-790) On November 15, 1997, the day following defendant's arrest, Mr. Hetherington was appointed to represent Lenard Philmore on the Martin County armed trespass charge as well as the Indiantown bank robbery offense. (R 790-791) After consulting with his client, attorney Hetherington allowed Lenard Philmore to give a tape recorded statement to police detectives on November 18, 1997. (R 790-792) Counsel was aware from his conversations with defendant that the police had already attempted to question him regarding a missing female person out of Palm Beach County about which defendant

purportedly had no knowledge. (R 792-793) In this post *Miranda* statement, Lenard Philmore denied any knowledge regarding the disappearance of Kazue Perron. (R 792 - 795)

After the November 18, 1997 police interview, the authorities required defendant to undergo a polygraph examination which was then scheduled for November 20, 1997. (R 796) Attorney Hetherington testified that he believed almost everything Lenard Philmore said to him including his lack of participation in the abduction of Kazue Perron. (R 795-797)

During the course of the pre-polygraph interview on November 20, 1997, the examiner advised counsel that defendant's "story" had changed regarding his knowledge of Ms. Perron and the session was then terminated. ( R 798) Although attorney Hetherington was in the general area, he was not actually present in the immediate vicinity of the polygraph examination. ( R 798)

Thereafter on November 21, 1997, defendant Philmore and his counsel met with assistant state attorney Thomas Bakkedahl in the Martin County jail where, after discussions, defendant agreed to lead the authorities to the body of Kazue Perron. (R 799-800) According to attorney Hetherington, he permitted his client to make these damaging admissions because of Lenard Philmore's representation that he was not the actual "shooter", although a participant. (R 800) Following this jailhouse meeting,

defendant led the police to Ms. Perron's body. (R 801)

A subsequent statement was given by Lenard Philmore in the presence of his counsel later in the day on November 21, 1997 following recovery of the victim's body. (R 801) It was attorney Hetherington's belief that defendant's "cooperation might be in his best interest". (R 802) Lenard Philmore's admissions at that point revealed his presence at the abduction and murder of Kazue Perron, although insisting he was not the actual triggerman. (R 804)

A second polygraph examination to be performed on November 23, 1997 was then agreed to by defendant and his counsel. (R 804-805) At its completion, police detectives advised Mr. Hetherington that they believed his client Lenard Philmore was lying regarding his degree of involvement. (R 805-807) Shortly thereafter, defendant advised counsel that he was in fact the person who shot Kazue Perron. (R 807-808)

Yet another police interrogation was scheduled for November 26, 1997 where Lenard Philmore, in the presence of his counsel, implicated himself as both a participant and as the actual killer of Kazue Perron. ( R 808-810) During this timeframe, Mr. Hetherington was also receiving information from various law enforcement agencies. ( R 811)

On cross-examination, attorney Hetherington acknowledged speaking with defendant about the abduction and possible murder almost immediately upon the

inception of his representation. (R 812) At the same time, counsel was being advised by law enforcement that arrestees Philmore and Spann were prime suspects in the bank robbery and abduction/possible murder of Kazue Perron. (R 812-813) Because of the investigator's "time line" of the suspects travel, Mr. Hetherington had some "reservations" about defendant's insistence that he was involved only in the robbery and nothing else. (R 812-814) It is common practice of criminal defense lawyers "to not believe" their criminally accused clients. (R 813-814) Even though he suspected that Lenard Philmore was involved in Ms. Perron's abduction and possible murder, counsel allowed his client to give a statement to the police on November 18, 1997. (R 813-817) Assistant Public Defender Hetherington fully realized he could have refused his client's cooperation and not provided him to law enforcement. (R 816) Instead, counsel was "just letting him tell the story". (R 813-814)

Following defendant's change of story during his first polygraph examination, it was counsel's observation that Lenard Philmore "kept incriminating himself a little bit, inching himself closer and closer to the actual events of the homicide [in] an incremental process". ( R 818-820) This was an obvious indication to attorney Hetherington that his client should stop talking but counsel was hoping for life imprisonment as an ultimate resolution. ( R 820-821)

Nevertheless, a second polygraph was scheduled at which time defendant

Philmore's best chance for life imprisonment was if he cooperated and was not the triggerman. (R 823-824) According to counsel, the usual protocol in Martin County is that an accused will reap some benefit if he cooperates with the authorities and Mr. Hetherington didn't believe that this case would be "any different". (R 824)

Mr. Hetherington realized from the onset that he was dealing with a "probable murder" case in which the death penalty was a real possibility based on counsel's "compilation of statutory aggravators". (R 825-826) Although no formal discovery was undertaken, defense counsel had received an "immense amount of information from law enforcement and the prosecutor's office". (R 826-827) Counsel at one point advised his client that disclosing the location of Ms. Perron's body was the right thing to do despite its obvious evidentiary considerations pointing to defendant's guilt in the murder. (R 827-830) Attorney Hetherington did "not necessarily" agree that it was his duty to stop his client from further implicating himself in the murder if somehow it would save the defendant's life. (R 829-830) In his opinion, counsel had sufficient information in his two to three days of representation to permit Lenard Philmore to provide statement after statement even though defendant was continuously and increasingly incriminating himself in a capital murder for which the death penalty sentence was a likely outcome. (R 830-831) Mr. Hetherington believed Lenard

Philmore's cooperation to be "the best course of action". (R 832-833) He kept his advice to defendant regarding the latter's cooperation between the two of them. (R 879) The whole "basis of the cooperation" was to receive consideration from the prosecutor. (R 879 - 880) If Lenard Philmore cooperated with the authorities, he was advised by Assistant Public Defender John Hetherington, that he "could avoid the death penalty" in a prosecution for Kazue Perron's murder. (R 882)

Testifying on his own behalf, the defendant Lenard Philmore, age twenty two, told of his first meeting with Assistant Public Defender John Hetherington the day following his arrest. (R 836-837) They discussed at once the abduction of Kazue Perron and the police investigation that had been communicated to counsel. (R 837-838) After defendant acknowledged his participation in the bank robbery, counsel told him he had better cooperate with the authorities if he hoped to avoid the electric chair. (R 838) Lenard Philmore believed that he was already being charged with murder since appointed counsel came to speak to him about it. (R 838-840)

Although defendant denied any involvement in the murder during his November 18, 1997 police statement, attorney Hetherington continued to speak to his client about the murder charge and the need to cooperate in the investigation so as to help himself. ( R 842-844) Defense counsel stressed the need for defendant to disclose the location of Ms. Perron's body so that her husband could conduct a decent

burial. (R 844-845) Based on this conversation, Lenard Philmore ultimately told the police where the deceased was to be found. (R 845, 847)

Continuing to follow counsel's advice, defendant gave his full confession to the abduction and murder in which he was the gunman. (R 544-565, 847-849) Finally, on December 16, 1997, Lenard Philmore, along with his counsel, appeared before the grand jury where defendant again confessed. (R 544 - 565, 849-850)

It was defendant's belief and understanding from his conversations with Assistant Public Defender John Hetherington, that his cooperation with the state would result in a waiver of the death penalty in his prosecution for murder. (R 850-851) The defendant's cooperation would be his mitigation that would allow him to avoid the death penalty. (R 851-852, 862-864, 867-870, 876-878)

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