IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1706

LENARD PHILMORE,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Marrett W. Hanna Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0016039

Leslie T. Campbell
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar. No.: 0066631
1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd.
Suite 300
West Palm Beach, FL 33401-2299
Office Telephone: (561) 688-7759
Facsimile: (561) 688-7771

Counsel of Appellee

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

Those whose work products are murdered human beings should expect to be confronted by photographs of their accomplishments.... It is not to be presumed that gruesome photographs will so inflame the jury that they will find the accused guilty in the absence of evidence of guilt. Rather, we presume that jurors are guided by logic and thus are aware that pictures of the murdered victims do not alone prove the guilt of the accused.

<u>Henderson v. State</u>, 463 So. 2d 196, 200 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 473 U.S. 916 (1985).

Applying these principles, it is clear the photograph was relevant and admissible. It was used to describe the positioning of the victim and Philmore when the fatal shot was fired. Also, it was utilized to show the bullet's trajectory, cause of death, and the fact there was a single gunshot wound to the head. (T.17 - 1404-14). The Court should find there was no abuse of discretion in admitting the one frontal view of the victim's face because it was relevant to the case issues; its probative value outweighed any prejudicial effect. Philmore's conviction should be affirmed.

POINTS IV AND V

THERE WAS NO PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT COMMITTED IN EITHER THE GUILT OR PENALTY PHASES OF THE TRIAL (restated).

Philmore challenges comments made by the State during the trial. In Point IV, Philmore alleges the State improperly (1) discussed the luck of a woman targeted, but not attacked, (2) voiced the personal opinions of the investigating officers about Philmore's veracity, (3) referred to Philmore's dress and carrying the "great equalizer", and (4) personalized the prosecution (IB 75-76). In Point V, he challenges comments related to (1) development of an advisory sentence, (2) questioning defense experts, (3) referencing the polygraph, and (4) characterization of the State's expert (IB 78-81). Philmore seeks a new trial or penalty phase. This Court will find that the alleged incidents of misconduct were not preserved, are not misconduct or do not rise to the level of fundamental error. Relief should be denied.

Control of prosecutorial argument lies within the trial court's sound discretion, and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. See, Esty v. State, 642 So. 2d 1074, 1079 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1027 (1995). "Wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. [c.o.] Logical inferences may be drawn, and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments."

Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982). In arguing to a

jury "[p]ublic prosecutors are allowed to advance to the jury all legitimate arguments within the limits of their forensic talents in order to effectuate their enforcement of the criminal laws." <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 133 So. 2d 729, 731 (Fla. 1961), <u>cert. denied</u>, 372 U.S. 904 (1963). "In the penalty phase of a murder trial, resulting in a recommendation which is advisory only, prosecutorial misconduct must be egregious indeed to warrant our vacating the sentence and remanding for a new penalty-phase trial." Bertolotti <u>v. State</u>, 476 So. 2d 130, 133 (Fla. 1985). <u>See</u>, <u>Teffeteller v.</u> State, 439 So. 2d 840 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1074 (1984). "Any error in prosecutorial comments is harmless, however, if there is no reasonable possibility that those comments affected the verdict." King v. State, 623 So. 2d 486, 488 (Fla. 1993); Watts v. State, 593 So. 2d 198 (Fla.), cert. denied, 505 U.S. 1210 (1992). Reversal is not required for comments which do not vitiate the whole trial or "inflame the minds and passions of the jurors so that their verdict reflects an emotional response to the crime or the defendant." <u>Bertolotti</u>, 476 So. 2d at 134. The harmless error analysis applies to prosecutorial misconduct claims. State v. Murray, 443 So. 2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1984).

... prosecutorial error alone does not warrant automatic reversal of a conviction unless the errors involved are so basic to a fair trial that they can never be treated as harmless. The correct standard of appellate review is whether "the error committed was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial." [c.o.] The appropriate test for whether the

error is prejudicial is the "harmless error" rule set forth in <u>Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18 ... and its progeny.... Reversal of the conviction is a separate matter; it is the duty of appellate courts to consider the record as a whole and to ignore harmless error, including most constitutional violations.

Murray, 443 So. 2d at 956. In determining whether an error is harmless, the court must determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the comment did not contribute to the guilty verdict. Id. "In order for the prosecutor's comments to merit a new trial, the comments must either deprive the defendant of a fair and impartial trial, materially contribute to the conviction, be so harmful or fundamentally tainted as to require a new trial, or be so inflammatory that they might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict than that it would have otherwise." Spencer v. State, 645 So. 2d 377, 383 (Fla. 1994).

To preserve a claim of prosecutorial misconduct "the defense must make a specific contemporaneous objection at trial." San Martin v. State, 717 So. 2d 462, 467 (Fla. 1998); Ferguson v. State, 417 So. 2d 639, 641 (Fla. 1982) (finding misconduct issue unpreserved where only general objection made, followed by motion for mistrial). Even where an objection is sustained, but the defense does not seek a curative instruction or mistrial, the matter is not preserved. Riechmann v. State, 581 So. 2d 133, 138-39 n.12 (Fla. 1991). See, Holton v. State, 573 So. 2d 284 (Fla. 1990).

It must be noted, none of the prosecutorial remarks referenced

drew an objection, request for a curative instruction, or mistrial. (T 913-14, 928, 1040, 1551-53, 1556-58, 1569, 1573, 1577, 1579, 2197-98, 2202, 2215, 2223-24, 2226, 2230-31, 2234, 2256, 2264, 2266, 2285, 2289, 2458, 2503-04, 2510, 2513-14) (IB 76, 80-81). <u>Duest v. State</u>, 462 So. 2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1985) (finding challenge to argument unpreserved where neither objection nor curative requested). The issue is unpreserved, and fundamental error must be shown. Absent a contemporaneous objection, an appellate court will not review closing argument comments unless they constitute fundamental error. See Kilgore v. State, 688 So. 2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1996); Wyatt v. State, 641 So. 2d 355, 360 (Fla. 1994). alleged misconduct is unpreserved, the conviction will not be overturned unless a comment is so prejudicial it vitiates the Murray, 443 So. 2d at 956. Philmore has not entire trial. established fundamental error.

Point IV

1. Luck of woman targeted, but not attacked.

During the State's opening remarks, the prosecutor outlined what he expected the evidence would show. He noted that Spann and Philmore searched for a female victim, driving a nice car, so they could overpower her, kill her, and use the car to leave town. Describing a failed attempt, the prosecutor explained Spann and Philmore had followed a target for several miles, but were unable to get to the woman "who to this day doesn't know how lucky she

was." (T.14 - 910-11, 913-14). In the guilt phase closing, the State revisited the sequence of events starting with the search for a victim in the mall and the targeting of a potential victim who did not know she was followed. This discussion was made in the context of showing that Philmore had a "fully formed conscious intent" to take the life of any female he was able to reach in order to take her car (T.18 - 1551-52). The final comment in this vein occurred during the State's penalty phase closing in relation to the "cold calculated, and premeditated" ("CCP") aggravator. The State argued CCP was proven in part by the fact Philmore and Spann had a plan which they were willing to pursue even though they were unsuccessful initially in finding a car they liked in the mall or in reaching their first target. It was posited the original target "has no idea how lucky she was." (T.28 - 2503-04).

In Philmore's confession, he described how he and Spann drove around the mall in search of a female victim driving a nice car. He explained how they spotted and followed a woman for miles along the Interstate, but were unable to reach her in time to effectuate the carjacking. Unbeknownst to the woman, she had been stalked, but, due to happenstance, escaped. (T.16 - 1227; T.17 - 1427-29).

The fact one woman was targeted but abandoned was relevant to the CCP aggravator. Such showed Philmore's plan and persistence to find the perfect victim and accomplish the carjacking and murder.

Nelson v. State, 748 So. 2d 237, 244 (Fla. 1999) (affirming CCP)

where defendant discussed need to kill victim to obtain car); <u>Cave v. State</u>, 727 So. 2d 227, 229 (Fla. 1998) (finding CCP where defendant selected store to rob and held victim at gunpoint before accomplices killed her); <u>Brown v. State</u>, 721 So. 2d 274, 280 (Fla. 1998) (finding CCP where co-defendant suggested they find car and kill owner). The State's reference to the initial target merely put the crime in context and established the CCP aggravtor as found by the trial court in its sentencing order (R.17 - 1227).

Referring to a missed target's luck does not inflame or instill emotional fear in the jury, it merely states the obvious; one potential victim escaped the fate of another. Bush v. Dugger, 579 So. 2d 725, 727 (Fla. 1991) (finding reference to victim's absence from upcoming holiday harmless based upon limited reference to obvious fact). The instant, brief references do not rise to the level of misconduct found in <u>Urbin v. State</u>, 714 So. 2d 411, 420 n.9 (Fla. 1998) where this Court noted 33 instances where the prosecutor attempted to "dehumanize and demonize the defendant." Id. This is not the case here. Likewise, Campbell v. State, 679 2d 720, 723-725 (Fla. 1996) does not further Appellant's In Campbell, the improper comments related to position. disparaging a defense expert witness by linking him to testifying for "cop killers" and asking the jury to "send a message to the community." Id. Neither improper action occurred here.

The State is permitted to draw inferences from the evidence.

Without question, the woman followed, but not reached was lucky, or at least such could be inferred. Breedlove, 413 So. 2d at 8 (finding "[w]ide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury.... counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments."); Spencer, 133 So. 2d at 731 (noting "[1]ogical inferences from the evidence are permissible"). See, Bertolotti, 476 So. 2d at 133 (opining "[i]n the penalty phase of a murder trial, resulting in a recommendation which is advisory only, prosecutorial misconduct must be egregious indeed to warrant our vacating the sentence and remanding for a new penalty-phase trial."). However, even if the State had not pointed out that the first target was lucky, anyone hearing Philmore's account would draw that conclusion. reference to the unknown woman's luck does not undermine confidence in the verdict or sentencing. Murray, 443 So. 2d at 956 (holding unpreserved error must be "so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial" before reversing).

2. Reference to personal opinions of investigating officers.

Philmore asserts it was misconduct to refer "to the personal opinions of the investigating detectives whom he said 'didn't believe what he [Lenard Philmore] was saying.'" (IB 76). In the State's guilt phase opening, the following account was advanced:

This Defendant, over a course of a few days with his attorney present, made statements to law enforcement where he bit by bit admitted to his participation in this crime. But, at first tried to blame all of the really bad things that happened on Spann,

and denied any participation in the actual killing of the victim.

But, as time went on and as it became clear that the detectives ... didn't believe what he was saying, finally admitted ... that he was the one who actually pulled the trigger ... forced his way into Kazue Perron's car ... made her get out ... killed her, and ... put her body into the canal....

(T.14 - 927-28).

Detective Bach averred that on November 18, 1997, Philmore confessed to the bank robbery, but denied participation in the abduction and murder. Bach agreed that initially Philmore blamed Spann for Ms. Perron's disappearance, but as questioning continued over a few days, it became clear the initial statements were untruthful (T.15 - 1026, 1032, 1040). According to Detective 1997 Fritchie, Philmore's November 21, account Originally, Philmore said Spann carjacked and drove Ms. Perron as Philmore followed. Philmore denied knowing she would be killed or seeing the shooting. Fritchie questioned Philmore about his truthfulness due to his expressions (T.16 - 1228-1232, 1264-67, 1276, 1285). On November 26, 1997, Philmore admitted to doing the carjacking, driving Ms. Perron, shooting her once in the forehead, and throwing her body in the canal (T.17 - 1428-40).

Without question, the State's inference in opening statement that the police did not believe Philmore as he gave varying accounts is supported by the record and is fair comment upon the evidence. Hence, <u>Spencer</u>, 645 So. 2d at 383 does not further

Appellant's position. Philmore's account of events changed over time from having no involvement to having committed all of the charged crimes himself. The record supports the argument that the confession changed over time and caused the officers to disbelieve Philmore (T.15 - 1040; T.16 - 1285). The police were not passing judgment upon Philmore's quilt or innocence, but merely expressing their assessment that the change in Philmore's accounts showed that his initial accounts were not truthful. Breedlove, 413 So. 2d at 8 (acknowledging "[w]ide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury.... counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments."); Spencer, 133 So. 2d at 731 (noting "[1]ogical inferences from the evidence are permissible"). Nonetheless, it cannot be said that one, un-objected to reference to the fact that Philmore was untruthful at first undermines confidence in the trial outcome. Murray, 443 So. 2d at 956 (holding unpreserved error must be "so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial" before reversal).

3. "White tank top", "gold necklaces", and "great equalizer"

It is Philmore's claim it was improper stereotyping for the State to characterize him "as an arrogant criminal in "his white tank top and his gold necklaces' carrying the 'great equalizer', a firearm" (IB 76). A review of the record reveals that Philmore was identified as dressed in a white tank top and wearing gold necklaces. At no time did the State call Philmore an "arrogant criminal." Moreover, Philmore has not explained how this was

stereotyping. While the "great equalizer" was not mentioned by the witnesses as such, the State's use of this term, when put into context of the entire case, is proper. The Court should affirm.

On November 14, 1997, Martha Solis observed "a big person, black. He had a shirt without sleeves, white, and he had big gold chain (sic) on his neck" running from a red house. Parked near the house, she observed a thinner, lighter skinned black man sitting in the driver's seat of an old blue car (T.14 - 964-67). Rosa Quinonez, First Bank of Indiantown employee, observed a black man exiting the bank wearing a white sleeveless undershirt and blue jean shorts. Ms. Quinonez saw the man get into a "bluish, grayish" car (T.15 - 1005-10). Philmore admitted he wore a "tank top" on the day he killed Ms. Perron and robbed the bank. He discarded the shirt after finding Ms. Perron's blood on it. (T.17 - 1464-65).

Given this record, the State correctly described Philmore's attire. The State was commenting upon the evidence produced at trial which linked Philmore to the charged crimes. This was a proper use of the evidence and does not amount to misconduct.

In apparent support of this claim, Philmore points to <u>Barnes</u> <u>v. State</u>, 743 So. 2d 1105, 1114 n.5 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999). However, in <u>Barnes</u>, the defendant objected to some remarks and overlooked others. Based upon the sheer number of improper comments fundamental error was found. Such is not the case here. As noted above, none of the comments drew an objection and the references to

Philmore's attire and jewelry were almost exact quotes from the eye-witnesses. This leaves only the reference to the "great equalizer" (T.18 - 1553).

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